DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Bio-Material Maintenance Treatments

R. Christopher Williams, Principal Investigator

Asphalt Materials and Pavements Program Iowa State University

OCTOBER 2023

Final Report NRRA202306

NRRA National Road Research Alliance

To request this document in an alternative format, such as braille or large print, call <u>651-366-4718</u> or <u>1-800-657-3774</u> (Greater Minnesota) or email your request to <u>ADArequest.dot@state.mn.us</u>. Please request at least one week in advance.

Technical Report Documentation Page

1. Report No. NRRA202306	2.	3. Recipients Accession No.				
4. Title and Subtitle		5. Report Date				
Bio-Material Maintenance Treatm	ents	September 2023				
		6.				
7. Author(s)		8. Performing Organization Report No.				
R. Christopher Williams, Ana Luiza Rodrigues, Caio Falcao,						
Ashley Buss, Maxwell Staver, Irvin Pinto, Austin Hohmann, Eric						
Cochran, Nacu Hernandez, Andrew Becker, Baker Kuehl, and						
Michael Forrester						
9. Performing Organization Name and Address		10. Project/Task/Work Unit No.				
Asphalt Materials and Pavements	Program					
Iowa State University		11. Contract (C) or Grant (G) No.				
2711 S. Loop Drive, Suite 4700		(c) 1036334 (wo) 2				
Ames, IA 50010						
12. Sponsoring Organization Name and Addres	s 	13. Type of Report and Period Covered				
Minnesota Department of Transpo	ortation	Final Report				
Office of Research & Innovation	20	14. Sponsoring Agency Code				
St Paul Minnesota 55155-1899	30					
15. Supplementary Notes						
16 Abstract (Limit: 250 words)						
Asphalt pavements deteriorate from	temperature cycling, moisture, oxi	dation, and loading-relat	ed distresses. Pavement			
preservation is critical in maintaining	the functional and structural integ	rity of roads and extendi	ng pavement life. Surface			
treatments can prevent or restore the	e aging effects by rejuvenating and	/or sealing the pavemen	t's surface, limiting further			
damage, and restoring its flexibility. T	his collaborative study of MnDOT,	the National Road Resea	arch Alliance (NRRA), and			
Iowa State University investigates the	e efficacy of fog seal/bio-fog seal to	opical treatments based of	on soy-derived rejuvenators,			
epoxidized soybean oil (SESO), and Bi	oMAG, which contains SESO and t	he biopolymer poly(acryl	ated epoxidized high oleic			
soybean oil) (PAEHOSO). Each topical	treatment is applied at three loca	tions in different asphalt	binder grades to provide a			
comprehensive approach to their imp	pacts on the dry time, reflectivity, f	riction, and permeability	of the pavement course. It is			
observed that the bio-fog seal treatm	ents improve the skid resistance o	f the pavement, do not a	affect the reflectivity of			
pavement markings, and are able to r	estore the stiffness of the asphalt	mixtures. Additionally, th	ne fog seals show fast setting			
and curing and allows the road to be	and curing and allows the road to be open to traffic in less than 30 minutes.					
17. Document Analysis/Descriptors		18. Availability Statement				
Biological materials, Rejuvenators, Seal coats, Pavement		No restrictions. Document available from:				
maintenance, Sustainable development		National Technical Information Services,				
		Alexandria, Virginia 22312				
19. Security Class (this report)	20. Security Class (this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price			
Unclassified	Unclassified	31				

Bio-Material Maintenance Treatments

Final Report

Prepared by:

R. Christopher Williams Ana Luiza Rodrigues Caio Falcao Ashley Buss Maxwell Staver Irvin Pinto Austin Hohmann Eric Cochran Nacu Hernandez Andrew Becker Baker Kuehl Michael Forrester Asphalt Materials and Pavements Program Iowa State University

October 2023

Published by:

Minnesota Department of Transportation Office of Research & Innovation 395 John Ireland Boulevard, MS 330 St. Paul, Minnesota 55155-1899

This report represents the results of research conducted by the authors and does not necessarily represent the views or policies of the Minnesota Department of Transportation or Iowa State University. This report does not contain a standard or specified technique.

The authors, the Minnesota Department of Transportation, and Iowa State University do not endorse products or manufacturers. Trade or manufacturers' names appear herein solely because they are considered essential to this report.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to express their appreciation to the Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT) for funding this project and the National Road Research Alliance (NRRA) for supporting this work under Federal Highway Administration Transportation Pooled Fund TPF-5(341).

The authors would also like to acknowledge the effort of Paul Ledtje as well as the members of the technical advisory panel:

- Jerry Geib, MnDOT
- Mike Hedlund, MnDOT
- Brent Holland, MnDOT
- Todd Kinney, Clinton County, Iowa / National Association of Counties
- Greg Laine, MnDOT
- Clark Moe, MnDOT
- Phillip Ruffus, Missouri Department of Transportation
- Stephanie Weigel, North Dakota Department of Transportation

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction1
Chapter 2: Literature Review2
2.1 Background
2.2 Rejuvenators for Asphalt Pavement Applications
2.3 Bio-based Materials for Rejuvenating Aged Asphalt3
2.4 Quantifying the Effects of Rejuvenators on Asphalt Pavements: Performance Testing6
Chapter 3: Materials8
3.1 Materials8
3.1.1 Bio-based Rejuvenated Fog Seal9
3.2 Methods9
3.2.1 Application Procedure and Rate9
3.2.2 Field Investigation Methods10
3.2.3 Laboratory Test Methods11
Chapter 4: Field Investigation and Laboratory Testing Results12
4.1 Field Investigation Results
4.1.1 Friction
4.1.2 Reflectivity
4.1.3 Stiffness and Relaxation Properties16
4.1.4 Permeability17
Chapter 5: Conclusions and Recommendation19
5.1 Conclusions
5.2 Recommendation
5.3 Potential Benefits19

List of Figures

Figure 1 Aerial image of the Mn/ROAD test track where the topical treatments SESO (red/white thick stripes) and BioMAG (blue/white thin stripes) were applied for testing
Figure 2 Aerial image of the St. Michael County Road (15th St.) where the topical treatments SESO (red/white thick stripes) and BioMAG (blue/white thin stripes) were applied for testing
Figure 3 Bio fog seal application9
Figure 4 Pavement before (left) and after (right) the bio fog seal application12
Figure 5 Sand patch results
Figure 6 BPN of Mn/ROAD test sections14
Figure 7 DFT results15
Figure 8 Bio-fog seal dry time in St. Michael test section16
Figure 9 Horizontal pavement markings reflectivity before and after treatment
Figure 10 Stiffness (left) and m-value (right) results17
Figure 11 Field coefficient of permeability (10 ⁻⁵ cm/s)18

List of Tables

Table 1 Summary of bio-based asphalt additives	5
Table 2 Fog seal application rates	10

Executive Summary

As asphalt pavement oxidizes and ages, it becomes brittle, increasing the potential to fatigue or for thermal cracking to occur, which can lead to the deterioration of pavement surfaces and infrastructure over time. To increase the longevity of the roadway, extend the pavement service life, and delay major rehabilitation, maintaining good pavement condition, pavement preservation treatments are applied in the pavement. One of these treatments is fog seals, which consist of spraying a thin layer of emulsion onto the pavement to slow or in some cases reverse the damage caused by oxidative aging. Asphalt emulsions are the most common material used in fog seals and the formulation may include a rejuvenator to lower its viscosity and possibly even rejuvenate the surface of the existing aged pavement.

Two soy-derived surface treatments, epoxidized soybean oil (SESO), and BioMAG, which contains SESO and the biopolymer poly(acrylated epoxidized high oleic soybean oil) (PAEHOSO), were formulated into bio-fog seals and applied on 3 pavement sections. In this project, the performance of these water-based emulsions was evaluated, regarding their dry time, pavement skid resistance, permeability, stiffness, and pavement marking reflectivity.

The field and laboratory tests showed that the pavements treated with the bio-fog seal exhibited an improvement in the skid resistance, the reflectivity of pavement markings was not affected on the St. Michael's test sections, and the treatments were able to restore the stiffness of the asphalt mixtures. Additionally, the fog seals showed a fast setting and curing and allowed the road to be open to traffic in less than 30 minutes.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Aging pavement infrastructure and the deterioration of pavement surfaces over time remain an ongoing challenge in meeting roadway user expectations. The oxidative aging causes the embrittlement of the asphalt binder in the pavement, which increases the potential to fatigue or for thermal cracking to occur (Alamdary et al., 2019 and Wang et al., 2019).

Preventive pavement preservation treatments that are applied in sound structured condition pavements, can extend the pavement functional service life and reduce future maintenance costs (Uzarowski et al., 2009). One of these treatments are fog seals, which consist of spraying a thin layer of emulsion onto the pavement to slow or in some cases reverse the damage caused by oxidative aging. Asphalt emulsions are the most common material used in fog seals and in their formulation usually a rejuvenator is used to lower its viscosity and possibly even rejuvenate the surface of the existing aged pavement (Cheng et al., 2015).

A variety of bio-sealant products are available on the market and can be used to seal, and in some cases, rejuvenate the in-place asphalt. Soybean derived additives have been found to be effective rejuvenators, reducing the stiffness of aged and brittle asphalt binders. Iowa State University developed soy-based biotechnologies that show promise in rejuvenating aged asphalts and can be developed into a biobased rejuvenating emulsion fog seal. The unique feature of this rejuvenator is that multiple stress creep recovery tests are not negatively affected by the addition of the soy-based rejuvenator (Cochran et al., 2021).

Two soy-derived surface treatments, epoxidized soybean oil (SESO), and BioMAG, which contains SESO and the biopolymer poly(acrylated epoxidized high oleic soybean oil) (PAEHOSO), were formulated into bio-fog seals and applied on 3 pavement test sections for evaluation. The proposed research consisted of evaluating the performance of these bio-fog seals, regarding their dry time, pavement skid resistance, permeability, stiffness, and pavement marking reflectivity.

The benefits of this research are improved flexibility, sealing, and preservation of roadways while developing new domestic markets for soybean products. Increased longevity of the roadway delays major rehabilitation and provides improved pavement condition in the interim. Preservation of pavements helps keep roads in better condition longer, which leads to reduced pavement life-cycle cost.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1 Background

As pavements age over time, they become increasingly prone to climate and traffic related distresses. As asphalt components react in the presence of oxygen and aging occurs, the percent of heavy fractions in the binder increase leading to an increase in asphalt stiffness. This has led to the development of treatments intended to 'turn back time' on the asphalt pavement, and in the late 1950's, the first asphalt rejuvenators were developed to help counter asphalt aging (Brown and Johnson, 1976). Since then, rejuvenators under several proprietary names have been developed to combat aging in asphalt pavements. Rejuvenator application is not without problems because their application can reduce pavement friction and lead to increased safety issues. This has led to several states limiting rejuvenators for use for certain applications and a realization that the application rate must balance both rejuvenating effectiveness and friction values (G. King and H. King, 2008). Ideally, a rejuvenator would also be formulated to avoid unnecessary delays to re-opening the road to traffic, such as curing quickly.

There are two main purposes for applying fog seals. The first type of application is a treatment to enhance stone retention or reduce raveling on the surface of a roadway. The second application type is a penetrating seal formulated to infiltrate into the pavement to fill cracks/voids and rejuvenate the asphalt (Estakhri and Agarwal, 1991) The different application purposes require different considerations for emulsion formulation.

The emulsion setting characteristics for fog seals formulated to address raveling are typically faster setting while the penetrating seals are designed to set more slowly to allow for penetration and filling of small voids (Estakhri and Agarwal, 1991). Both applications will fill voids to some extent; however, the penetrating fog seal is designed to penetrate the pavement's surface and requires a slower-setting chemistry to allow the emulsion to maintain fluidity while it seals cracks and fills small voids.

The success of a fog seal relies on selecting the correct emulsion type and application rate. Fog seals applied on top of chip seals or a raveling pavement can use a rapid setting emulsion, while fog seals that need to penetrate and seal thin, hairline cracks on the pavement surface need emulsions with considerably lower viscosity and higher wetting potential., Slow and rapid setting emulsions have high emulsifier contents which result in small particle sizes and hence low viscosity. This makes them ideal for use in penetrating fog seals (James, 2006). Fog seal emulsions are often diluted to further reduce viscosity. Another important factor to consider for fog seal treatments is the application rate, which depends on the surface characteristics of the asphalt pavement (Zhang et al., 2019). A high application rate may allow for more crack sealing properties but could lead to reduced friction, while a lower application rate may not achieve desired results. Application rates of fog seals depend on the type of surface to be sealed as well as the amount of residual asphalt desired (Qureshi et al., 2013). Application rates as low as 0.01gal/yd2 for low absorption surfaces to as high as 0.59 gal/yd2 for high absorption surfaces is suggested by AEMA (Kim and Im, 2012). Minnesota typically applies fog seals at an application rate of 0.06 gal/yd2 to 0.12 gal/yd2 (Wood et al., 2006).

Rejuvenators are generally oil-based applications that penetrate the pavement surface and soften the aged asphalt by restoring the balance of asphaltenes and maltenes in the asphalt binder (Boyer, 2000). Rejuvenators need to have a low viscosity to penetrate and disperse through the asphalt, while maintaining a uniform consistency (Epps et al 1980). It must be noted that rejuvenating agents are different from softening agents, which do not restore the asphaltene/maltene ratio of the asphalt, but rather lower the viscosity of the binder (Karlsson and Isacsson, 2006; Moghaddam and Baaj, 2016).

The need for cost effective and environmentally sustainable pavements has lead to an increased interest in bio-based asphalt rejuvenators and pavement preservation. A typical asphalt rejuvenator contains the lighter and highly aromatic fractions of crude oil, and several studies indicate that these compounds can be successfully synthesized from natural and sustainable materials. Some rejuvenators also include recycled waste materials (Karlsson and Isacsson, 2006; Moghaddam and Baaj, 2016).

2.2 Rejuvenators for Asphalt Pavement Applications

With the focus shifting from using virgin materials in asphalt pavements to recycling aggregate and using more sustainable materials and methods for pavement construction and rehabilitation, bio-based materials are growing in popularity as a sustainable additive in asphalt mixes. The addition of both biomass-based additives, petroleum-based additives, and recycled oil-based additives has been researched over the years (Qu et al., 2018; Cooper Jr et al., 2017). Biomass may be in the form of animal waste, wood and cooking oil wastes and corn or soy based materials (Podolsky et al., 2016; Chen at al., 2017) and finds use in warm mix technology as well as recycling existing pavement materials and binder modification. Recycling existing asphalt pavement materials is a sustainable alternative to using virgin aggregate in pavement construction, however the stiff aged binder present in RAP (recycled asphalt pavement) limits the amount of RAP that can be incorporated into HMA. Adding rejuvenating agents can increase the amount of recycled material that can be added into an asphalt mix design while maintaining performance specifications (Silva et al., 2012) Rejuvenating emulsions may also be diluted sufficiently and used as rejuvenating fog seals. These emulsions contain oils that reduce the viscosity of existing asphalt binder and can seal voids that in turn prevent further binder oxidization (Prapaitrakul et al., 2005). This section will look at the role of bio-based rejuvenating materials used in HMA and asphalt emulsions in greater depth.

2.3 Bio-based Materials for Rejuvenating Aged Asphalt

A review of literature reveals multiple studies into the potential rejuvenating properties of several biomaterials, as well as bio-based asphalt alternatives. Plant-based additives like soybean and palm oil, as well as engine oil residue are similar in chemical composition to asphalt binders and hence can be used as additives to asphalt, as well as binder alternatives (Abd El-latief, 2018). These materials are commonly produced by pyrolysis which involves a high heat transfer rate to the biomass and a short vapor residence time, causing the biomass to decompose. A variety of proprietary materials currently exist with rejuvenating and softening properties that can be applied to asphalt mixes. Treatments like RePlay and Biorestor are bio-based fog seal treatments that have been applied to pavement sections (Ghosh et al., 2016). Podolsky et. al. (2016a), studied the effects of isosorbide distillation bottoms on the rutting and stripping performance of hot mix and warm mix asphalt using the MSCR test and the Hamburg wheel tracking test to determine the rutting resistance of the binder and mix, respectively. The authors also noted a decrease in mixing and compaction temperatures with all bio additives (Podolsky et al., 2016b). Isosorbide distillation bottoms is a common byproduct from corn oil synthesis. The effects of antioxidants like lignin on the performance of asphalt binders have also been studied. In one study, coproducts containing lignin from a wet mill ethanol plant were combined with asphalt binders and their effect on binder performance was observed (McCready and Williams, 2008). The study noted stiffening of the binder with increased addition of the lignin-based product, enhancing the high temperature properties of the binder. While some negative effects were noted on the low temperature performance of the binder, these were observed to be small in comparison to the overall increase in the working temperature range of the binder. Waste cooking oil is another material that has elicited increased interest as an additive to asphalt binder. Vegetable oils in general are rich in unsaturated fatty acids which are similar to light oil components in asphalt. These vegetable oils include soybean oil and corn oil, and added in the right dosage can be as effective as conventional rejuvenating agents in softening aged asphalt (Ji et al., 2017). The properties of a bio asphalt containing 33% waste cooking oil were studied by Sun et.al., (Sun et al., 2017) who noted that the bio-based binder exhibited similar performance to SBS modified asphalt and superior performance to PEN 70 base asphalt for high and low temperature performance. Another study on waste cooking oil (WCO) noted that the quality of the WCO added to asphalt affects binder performance. The quality of WCO was determined with an acid test, with a high acid value potentially causing degradation in rheological performance. However, transesterification of WCO with alkaline catalysts reduces high fatty acid contents, allowing it to be used as a modifier in asphalt binder (Azahar et al., 2016). Asphalt emulsions can prove advantageous as a rejuvenator since they can be formulated to set at varying rates and contain a variety of rejuvenating additives, polymer modifiers, vulcanizing agents, and surface tension reducing agents (Takamura, 2005). The critical components in a rejuvenating asphalt emulsion are lower molecular weight maltene and aromatic fractions. The amount of rejuvenating agent added to the emulsion can be increased according to the amount of maltenes present in the asphalt binder that is emulsified and the degree of oxidation of the pavement surface (Morris and Shealey, 2014). A search of literature reveals limited knowledge on the effect of rejuvenating agents on the stability of asphalt emulsions. However, most rejuvenators are essentially composed of the light fractions of asphalt, e.g. aromatics and resins, or compounds of similar nature. Studies on the effect of these fractions on the stability of asphalt emulsions do exist. While the heavier fractions of asphalt (asphaltenes and waxes) decrease asphalt emulsion stability, aromatics and resins facilitate emulsion formation and enhance stability (Al-Sabagh et al., 1997). Therefore, it is possible that rejuvenating agents can aid in the stability of an asphalt emulsion. Table 1 summarizes various examples of bio-based asphalt additives from literature.

Table 1 Summary of bio-based asphalt additives

Bio-based additive	Purpose of addition	Effect on binder	Citation
Isosorbide distillation bottoms (IDB) derived from corn oil	Warm mix additive	Decreases mixing and compaction temperature	Podolsky et al., 2016b
Lignin derived from bioethanol production	Bio-asphalt	Increases working temperature of binder. Anti-oxidizing properties.	McCready and Williams, 2008
Waste cooking oil	Bio-asphalt	Enhanced high temperature performance similar to SBS modified asphalt	Ji et al., 2017, Azahar et al., 2016, Sun et al., 2017
Bio oil generated from sawdust	Rejuvenating agent	Improved cracking resistance. High degree of restoration of aged asphalts	Zhang et al., 2019
Soybean derived bio oil	Rejuvenating agent	Significant drop the binder's critical high and low temperature. Sustained performance in RTFO and PAV aged samples	Elkashef et al., 2017
Castor oil residue	Rejuvenating agent	Enhance asphalt binder serviceability temperature range. Effects of the rejuvenator performance vary with temperature	Zeng et al., 2018
Palm oil	Rejuvenating agent/binder replacement	Suitable for use in hot mix asphalt and Nigen hot in place recycling Chaid and P 2010	

2.4 Quantifying the Effects of Rejuvenators on Asphalt Pavements: Performance Testing

In order for a rejuvenating treatment to be deemed successful, it needs to penetrate into the asphalt pavement, seal up existing cracks to prevent further oxidation and prove economically beneficial while not delaying the opening of the road to traffic or reducing the friction of the pavement surface. Rejuvenating materials are often tested by studying their effect on softening of aged asphalt binder. Measuring the rejuvenated binder's rheological properties by penetration tests and using dynamic shear and bending beam rheometers allows researchers to understand and quantify the effects of a rejuvenating agent on asphalt binder (Shen and Ohne, 2002). Performance grades of the aged and rejuvenated binders are compared to that of the aged binders without rejuvenating agents, with an expected drop in high temperature and low temperature asphalt performance grades expected. This can lead to an adverse effect on the rutting resistance, but may still be favorable if the gain in low temperature behavior is higher than the loss in high temperature grade (Zeng et al., 2018). According to Brownridge (2010), the effectiveness of a rejuvenator can be measured by extracting and recovering the aged asphalt binder from samples treated with rejuvenating agents as well as control samples, and comparing their viscosities. Usually, the extraction of the asphalt binder is limited to the top ½ inch.

Field testing of rejuvenating emulsions and fog seals is an important aspect of quantifying how a treatment performs in real world conditions. Friction reduction is one of the biggest drawbacks of fog seals, with the Indiana DOT reporting a 50% reduction in friction values immediately after fog seal application. The friction values of the sections tested eventually returned to their original values after a period of 18 months (Li et al., 2012). A number of tests exist to measure the friction values of a pavement surface, some of them include the locked wheel tester, British pendulum skid resistance tester, surface texture tester and the dynamic friction tester (Kebede, 2016).

Studies by the University of Minnesota and the Minnesota DOT investigated the effect of bio-based sealants on the mechanical properties of asphalt mixes and how they impacted pavement performance (Ghosh and Marasteanu, 2016). This involved testing treated and untreated binder samples for rheological properties using a DSR and BBR, while also collecting treated as well as control field cores. Thin beams were cut from these field cores in order to test the effects of the sealants on mix properties of HMA. The study found that oil-based sealants had a significantly higher softening effect on the asphalt binder when compared to the water-based sealants. Testing HMA mixes showed different trends between field cores and laboratory prepared samples, with significant differences between the performance of water-based and oil-based sealants. Lastly, there was no significant effect of the sealants on the low temperature properties of the asphalt binder. Other trials by the Minnesota DOT involved using a bio-oil-based preservation agent intended to prevent the ingress of water into the pavement (Olson, 2011). The bio-based additive was able to increase the rate of water runoff from the pavement surface and had an application cost equal to that of a chip seal. It was also noted that the additive did not become hot and sticky during hot weather periods. This contradicts a study conducted by Medina and Clouser (2009) for the Pennsylvania DOT on the effects of the same soy-based derivative to reduce water and air infiltration into pavement layers, as well as its claims to reduce raveling, rutting,

and cracking without compromising on pavement durability and skid resistance. They found no significant reduction in water permeability between the control and treated sections, and further noted a drop in friction values of the pavement. However, it needs to be noted that the Minnesota DOT's selection of projects was more specifically targeted to old and cracked pavements that were already suffering from high permeability issues, highlighting the need for correct project selection. The Minnesota DOT applied bio-based pavement rejuvenators on shoulder sections with application rates of 0.015 to 0.10 gal/yd2 and were shown to provide various levels of waterproofing and reduced thermal cracking than the control section (Johnson, 2018). There was also no significant reduction in high and low temperature performance when compared to the control section. Another study by the Minnesota DOT focused on material performance in cold climates and evaluated binders treated with a bio-sealer as well as untreated control samples. Both oil based and water based sealants were used, and results showed that the oil based sealants both softened the control binder as well as increased its rutting, fatigue and low temperature cracking resistance (Ghosh, 2017). Further studies on the waterproofing abilities of bio-sealants on longitudinal joints in asphalt pavements were studied by Huang and Shu (2010) for the Tennessee Department of Transportation using permeability tests, indirect tensile strength testing and X-ray CT. The sections used application rates of 0.03 and 0.08 gal/yd2 for two different treatment applications. Results showed that the bio sealants reduced water absorption in the test sections.

Overall, these studies show there is great potential for expanding research in the areas of formulating bio-materials for use in asphalt emulsions to preserve and rejuvenate asphalt pavements.

Chapter 3: Materials

3.1 Materials

The materials used in this study come from a field project conducted by MnDOT, ISU and National Road Research Alliance (NRRA) research bio-fog seals at two sections of Mn/ROAD Test Road and on a section of a county road in St. Michael, Minnesota. The treatments were performed on July 20-21st, 2021.

The SESO and BioMag topical treatments were applied on the three test sections. At the Mn/ROAD Test Road two binder grades were used, 58H-34 (Group A) and 58S-28 (Group B), as shown in Figure 1. On the St. Michael County Road (15th Street) the treatments were applied on a 58H-34 binder grade (Figure 2).



Figure 1 Aerial image of the Mn/ROAD test track where the topical treatments SESO (red/white thick stripes) and BioMAG (blue/white thin stripes) were applied for testing.



Figure 2 Aerial image of the St. Michael County Road (15th St.) where the topical treatments SESO (red/white thick stripes) and BioMAG (blue/white thin stripes) were applied for testing.

The test sections were investigated in-field and four cores from each location and treatment were collected and evaluated through laboratory tests.

3.1.1 Bio-based Rejuvenated Fog Seal

Two bio-based fog seals were formulated using SESO and Bio-Mag as sealants and rejuvenators. The fog seals were lab formulated to restore the flexibility of an existing asphalt pavement at a low-cost. The lab formulation was based on the estimated binder stiffness at the time of application and considered the depth of the emulsion penetration into the pavement system to achieve at least ¾-inch of emulsion penetration and achieving a cure time of less than 2 hours. These bio-based fog seals are water-based and fast setting emulsion. Their formulation was 30% solids containing 2% surfactant and 1% emulsion aid and therefore 70% water.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Application Procedure and Rate

The soybean-based SESO and BioMAG fog seal design application rate was 0.02 gal/yd². The mixtures were premixed prior to application to ensure uniformity for application and sprayed on the pavement by a distributor truck, as shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3 Bio fog seal application

The application rate in the field was calculated based on the area that the bio fog seal was applied and the difference in the weight of the seal tank. The fog seal application rates are shown in Table 2.

Table 2 Fog seal application rates

Test Section	Application rate (gal/yd²)
Mn/ROAD 58S-28 SESO	0.016
Mn/ROAD 58S-28 BioMag	0.018
Mn/ROAD 58H-34 SESO	0.015
Mn/ROAD 58H-34 BioMag	0.020
St. Michael 58H-34 SESO	0.016
St. Michael 58H-34 BioMag	0.018

3.2.2 Field Investigation Methods

3.2.2.1 Dynamic Friction Testing (DFT)

The Dynamic Friction Testing (DFT) measures surface friction as function of a horizontal spinning disk with three spring-loaded rubber sliders. The speed of the disk, when in contact with a surface, will decrease due to friction between sliders and surface friction. The friction is calculated as a function of sliding speed. This test was performed, in accordance with ASTM E1911-19, inside and outside the wheel path at speeds ranging from 0 to 80kph, before the seal application, and after 30 minute, 60 minutes, 90 minutes and 1 month. Jayawickrama et al. (1996) defined that a friction coefficient of 0.35 at 20 kph is the minimum acceptable for heavy traffic roads.

3.2.2.2 British Pendulum Test

The British Pendulum test uses a dynamic pendulum impact-type with a rubber slider and was performed following ASTM E303-18. The energy loss between the slider and the test surface determines frictional properties and skid resistance of a surface evaluated as British Pendulum Number (BPN). A minimum of 6 data points were collected for each value and a dry and wet measurement were taken for each section. The wet section had an initial 5-6 spray applications of water and was re-wetted prior to each measurement.

3.2.2.3 Sand Patch Test

The sand patch test is employed to measure the pavement macrotexture. Based on the diameter of the circle formed spreading a known volume of sand over a clean pavement surface the mean texture depth can be calculated. The procedure for performing the sand patch test can be found in ASTM E965-15.

3.2.2.4 Retroreflective Pavement Marking Test

The retroreflectivity properties of horizontal pavement marking materials, such traffic stripes, were measured before and after the application of the bio-fog seal to investigate if there was a significant loss in reflectivity of pavement markings, using a portable retroreflectometer. The test was performed in the field before the treatment and after 7 weeks, using LTL-X Retroreflectometer and following ASTM E1710-18 procedure. According to Pike and Barrette (2020), the minimum performance for in-place wetreflective markings is 50 mcd/m2.1 to be adequately visible in wet-night conditions which is above the 35 mcd/m²/lux identified in the qualitative rating portion of the study. Pike and Barrette (2020) referenced a Virginia Tech Transportation Institute study (Gibbons et al, 2004; Gibbons et al., 2005) that showed the detection distance of pavement markings under wet retroreflectivity is less than that under dry retroreflectivity of the same value (e.g., 500 mcd/m²/lux).

3.2.2.5 Permeability

The permeability of asphalt mixtures was measured based on the Florida Test Method FM 5-565. The test determines the water conductivity through the rate of flow of water through a saturated specimen using a falling head permeability apparatus. The coefficient of permeability of the asphalt sample is then determined based on Darcy's law.

3.2.3 Laboratory Test Methods

3.2.3.1 Bending Beam Rheometer (BBR)

Bending Beam Rheometer test consists of a low-temperatre creep test, in which a constant load is aplied on an asphalt beam in a three-point bending configuration. The deflection of the beam relates to the stiffness and relaxation properties of asphalt binders. Asphalt mixture beams were prepared from the field cores. The practice of the method is described in AASHTO T 313-19.

Chapter 4: Field Investigation and Laboratory Testing Results

4.1 Field Investigation Results

The bio-fog seals were applied in three test sections. A visual inspection showed that there was an improvement on the surface appearance, sealing of minor cracks and surface voids, as shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4 Pavement before (left) and after (right) the bio fog seal application

4.1.1 Friction

The sand patch results are shown in Figure 5. There is a substantial difference between Control sections 1 and 2 and between the measurements done before and after the other sections were treated, showing that this test is very sensitive to the location as testing was done in different locations. In the three test sections, the bio-fog seal treatment did not affect or improved the mean texture depth of the pavement.





(a) Mn/ROAD 58S-28, Inside Wheel Path





(c) St. Michael, Inside Wheel Path

Figure 5 Sand patch results

The BPN of the Mn/ROAD tests sections are shown in Figure 6. The skid resistance in most of the cases was not significantly affected by the application of the fog seal, showing that the friction of the pavement was maintained. The BioMag fog seal pavement in the outer wheel path track in the wet condition outperformed the track with no treatment for both Mn/ROAD sections.



Figure 6 BPN of Mn/ROAD test sections

Figure 7 shows the results of DFT for the three test sections. Comparing the friction coefficient before and after the application of the bio-treatment. The friction did not significantly change or was improved, and for all the test sections at 20kph the friction coefficients were greater than 0.35, the minimum safe level.



MnROAD 58S-28 BioMag MnROAD 58S-28 SESO MnROAD 58S-28 Control

(a) Mn/ROAD 58S-28, Pre-Application



MnROAD 58H-34 SESO MnROAD 58H-34 BioMag MnROAD 58H-34 Control

(c) Mn/ROAD 58H-34, Pre-Application



(e) St. Michael, Pre-Application

(I) St. Michael

Figure 7 DFT results

Figure 8 shows the friction coefficient before the application of the surface treatment on the St. Michael test section pavement and after. Since the friction coefficient of the control and the treated sections are not substantially different, it shows that the bio fog seals were placed and cured within 30 minutes for opening to traffic.



MnROAD 58S-28 BioMag MnROAD 58S-28 SESO MnROAD 58S-28 Control

(b) Mn/ROAD 58S-28, 1-Month Post-Application



MnROAD 58H-34 BioMag MnROAD 58H-34 SESO MnROAD 58H-34 Control

(d) Mn/ROAD 58H-34, 1-Month Post-Application



(f) St. Michael, 1-Month Post-Application



Figure 8 Bio-fog seal dry time in St. Michael test section

4.1.2 Reflectivity

The effect of the fog seals in the horizontal pavement markings reflectivity are shown in Figure 9. In the St. Michael section, all pavement markings had decreased reflectivity, but were above minimum value of f 50 mcd/m2 l. In Mn/ROAD sections the bio-fog seals improved the reflectivity of the horizontal markings.



Figure 9 Horizontal pavement markings reflectivity before and after treatment

4.1.3 Stiffness and Relaxation Properties

Figure 10 shows the stiffness and m-value, that correlates with the asphalt relaxation properties, of the cores from Mn/ROAD test sections. The stiffness of the mixture on average decreased with both treatments. The asphalt mixtures treated with BioMag showed a slight increase in the m-value. Generally, a lower stiffness and a higher m-value are associated with better anti-cracking properties of a



mixture. These minor changes of the properties in the results can indicate that the bio-based fog seals, is not only acting as a sealant, but also as a rejuvenator.



(a) Mn/ROAD 58S-28





(b) Mn/ROAD 58H-34

Figure 10 Stiffness (left) and m-value (right) results

4.1.4 Permeability

Figure 11 shows the coefficient of permeability measured in the field and it showed a tendency of decreasing permeability after the surface treatment. The SESO fog seal decreased this coefficient in the sections tested. Based on the control sections, the Mn/ROAD 58S-28 BioMag is apparently an outlier, but the BioMag treatment did reduce the permeability. In the 58H-34 section, after the BioMag treatment the permeability increased. An impermeable pavement would have a value of 0 for the coefficient of permeability.



Figure 11 Field coefficient of permeability (10⁻⁵ cm/s)

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Recommendation

5.1 Conclusions

From this study, the following can be concluded:

- 1. The test tracks treated with bio-fog seals maintained the skid resistance of the pavement compared to testing prior to treatment.
- 2. The bio fog seals were placed and cured within 30 minutes for opening to traffic.
- 3. The reflectivity of the horizontal pavement markings was not affected and even improved in the Mn/ROAD test tracks from the treatments. However, in the St. Michael test section, the reflectivity decreased.
- 4. After the application of the SESO and BioMag fog seals, the stiffness of the asphalt mixture decreased. For the BioMag treated samples, there was also an increase in the m-value, showing an improvement in the relaxation properties of the binder. Those results showed that the bio-based fog seals were not only acting as sealants but also as rejuvenators in the pavement.
- 5. The permeability results showed a tendency toward decreasing permeability after the surface treatment. BioMag fog seal sealed the 58S-28 pavement, and the SESO fog seal, did not affect the permeability of the 58H-34 pavement.

Generally, it can be concluded that the use of bio fog seals as a maintenance treatment can help to postpone the need of resurfacing or applying a new overlay. The treatments improved the skid resistance of the pavements, didn't affect the reflectivity of the pavement markings, and restored the stiffness of the asphalt mixture. Additionally, it had a fast setting, opening the road to traffic within 30 minutes of the fog seal application.

5.2 Recommendation

SESO rejuvenator treatment would benefit from an increase in the application rates that were 0.015 to 0.016 gal/yd^2 to the targeted rate of 0.020 gal/yd².

5.3 Potential Benefits

The potential benefits of this research are:

- 1. Improve flexibility and preservation of roadways while developing new domestic markets for biobased products.
- 2. Increase longevity of the roadway delays major rehabilitation and provides improved pavement condition in the interim. Preservation of pavements helps keep roads in better condition longer, which leads to reduced pavement life-cycle cost.

References

- Abd El-latief, R. (2018). Asphalt Modified with Biomaterials as Eco-friendly and Sustainable Modifiers. DOI: 10.5772/intechopen.71157: Modified Asphalt, IntechOpen.
- Alamdary, Y., Singh, S., & Baaj, H. (2019). Laboratory Simulation of the Impact of Solar Radiation and Moisture on Long-term Age Conditioning of Asphalt Mixes *Road Mater. Pavement Des.*, 20(sup1), S521–S532.
- Al-Sabagh, M., Zaki, N., & Badawi, A. (1997). Effect of Binary Surfactant Mixtures on the Stability of Asphalt Emulsions. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 69(3), 350–356.
- Azahar, W., Jaya, R., Hainin, M., Bujang, M., & Ngadi, N. (2016). Chemical Modification of Waste Cooking Oil to Improve the Physical and Rheological Properties of Asphalt Binder. *Constr. Build. Mater.*, *126*, 218–226.
- Baghaee, T., & Baaj, H. (2016). The use of Rejuvenating Agents in Production of Recycled Hot Mix Asphalt: A Aystematic Review. *Construction and Building Materials, 114, 805–816*.
- Boyer R. (2000). Asphalt rejuvenators 'fact, or fable'. Transp. Syst., 58, I.
- Brown E., & Johnson, R. (1976). Evaluation of rejuvenators for bituminous pavements. San Antonio, Texas: *Air Force Civil Engineering Center*.
- Brownridge, J. (2010). The Role of an Asphalt Rejuvenator in Pavement Preservation: Ise and Need for Asphalt Rejuvenation. *Compendium of Papers from the First International Conference on Pavement Preservation, pp. 351–364.*
- Chen, C., Podolsky, J., Hernández, N., Hohmann, A., Williams, R., & Cochran, E. (2017). Preliminary Investigation of Bioadvantaged Polymers as Sustainable Alternatives to Petroleum-derived Polymers for Asphalt Modification. *Mater. Struct. Constr., 50*(5), 1–23.
- Cheng, D., Lane, L., & Vacura, P. (2015). Performance Evaluation of Fog and Rejuvenating Seals on Gap and Open Graded Surfaces by Caltrans. *Int. J. Pavement Res. Technol., 8*(3), 159–166.
- Cochran, E., Hernandez, N., Hohmann, A., Williams, R., Forrester, M., Podolsky, J., Ledtje, P., & Chen, C. (2021). (US20210079224A1) Biosolvents Useful for Improved Asphalt Products Utilizing Recycled Asphalt Pavement or Other Brittle Asphalt Binders Such as Vacuum Tower Bottoms. Google Patents. Retrieved from https://patents.google.com/patent/WO2021055815A1/en.
- Cooper Jr, S., Mohammad, L., & Elseifi, M. (2017). Laboratory Performance of Asphalt Mixtures Containing Recycled Asphalt Shingles and Re-refined Engine Oil Bottoms. J. *Mater. Civ. Eng.*, 29(9), 4017106.

- Ghosh, D. (2017). Experimental Investigation of Bio-sealants Used for Pavement Preservation and Development of a New Strength Test for Asphalt Binders at Low Temperature. Doctoral Thesis, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, Minnesota.
- Elkashef, M., Podolsky, J., Williams, R., & Cochran, E. (2017). Preliminary Examination of Soybean Oil Derived Material as a Potential Rejuvenator through Superpave Criteria and Asphalt Bitumen Rheology. *Constr. Build. Mater.*, *149*, 826–836.
- Epps, J., Little, D., Holmgreen, R., & Terrel, R. (1980). *Guidelines for Recycling Pavement Materials.* (NCHRP Rep., no. 224). Washington, DC: NCHRP.
- Estakhri, C., & Agarwal, H. (1991). *Effectiveness of Fog Seals and Rejuvenators for Bituminous Pavement Surfaces*. College Station, TX: Texas Transportation Institute, Texas A and M University.
- Ghosh, D., Turos, M., & Marasteanu, M. (2016). Minnesota Department of Transportation Report MN/RC 2016-20, Minneapolis, Minnesota.
- Gibbons R. B., Hankey J. M., & Pashaj I. (2004). *The Wet Night Visibility of Pavement Markings*. Charlottesville, VA: Virginia Transportation Research Council.
- Gibbons R. B., Andersen C., & Hankey J. M. (2005). Wet Night Visibility of Pavement Markings: A Static Experiment. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, *1911*, 113–122.

Huang, B., & Shu, X. (2010). Evaluation of Longitudinal Joints of HMA Pavements in Tennessee. Project #: RES 1304, Knoxville, Tennessee.

- James, A. (2006). Asphalt Emulsions (Chemistry and Concepts). *Transportation Research Circular E-C102: Asphalt Emulsion Technology.* Transportation Research Board, Washington, DC.
- Jayawickrama, P., Prasanna, R., & Senadheera, S. (1996). Survey of State Practices to Control Skid Resistance on Hot-mix Asphalt Concrete Pavements. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, 1536,* 52–58.
- Ji, J. Y., H., Suo, Z. You, Z., Li, H., Xu, S., & Sun, L. (2017). Effectiveness of Vegetable Oils as Rejuvenators for Aged Asphalt Binders. *J. Mater. Civ. Eng.*, *29*(3), D4016003.
- Johnson, E. (2018). Nontraditional Fog Seal for Asphalt Pavement: Performance on Shoulder Sections in Minnesota. Research Project Final Report 2018-18, Local Roads Research Board, Minneapolis, Minnesota.
- Karlsson R., & Isacsson, U. (2006). Material-related Aspects of Asphalt Recycling—State-of-the-Art. J. Mater. Civ. Eng., 18(1), 81–92.
- Kebede, A. (2016). Asphalt Pavement Preservation Using Rejuvenating Fog Seals. Master of Science in Civil Engineering Thesis, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana.

- Kim Y., & Im, J. (2015). Fog Seal Effectiveness for Bituminous Surface treatments. North Carolina Department of Transportation Research Project No. HWY-2010-02, Raleigh, North Carolina.
- King, G., & King, H. (2008). Spray Applied Emulsion Preventive and Maintenance Seals: FHWA research study. Paper presented at the International Sprayed Sealing Conference, 1st, 2008, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia, 2008.
- Li, S., Noureldin, S., Jiang, Y., & Sun, Y. (2012). Evaluation of Pavement Surface Friction Treatments. Report Number: FHWA/IN/JTRP-2012/04, West Lafayette, Indiana.
- McCready, N., & Williams, R. (2008). Utilization of Biofuel Coproducts as Performance Enhancers in Asphalt Binder. *Transp. Res. Rec.*, 2051(1), 8–14.
- Medina, J., & Clouser, T. (2009). Evaluation of RePLAY Soy-based Sealer for Asphalt Pavement (No. FHWA-PA-2009-020-RP 2008-035). Harrisburg, Pennsylvania: Pennsylvania Department of Transportation.
- Morris, P., & Shealey, J. (2014). (US8821064B1) Acrylic-modified asphalt rejuvenating emulsion. Google Patents. Retrieved from <u>https://patents.google.com/patent/US8821064B1/en</u>.
- Nigen-Chaidron, S., & Porot, L. (2010). (CA2680441A1) Rejuvenating agent and process for recycling of asphalt. Google Patents. Retrieved from https://patents.google.com/patent/WO2008084014A1/en.
- Olson, J. (2011). Application of RePLAY Agricultural Oil Seal and Preservation Agent (Local Oper. Res. Assist. Progr. Local Transp. Groups F. Report). *Minneapolis*, Minnesota: Local Road Research Board.
- Pike, A., & Barrette, T. (2020). *Pavement Markings—Wet Retroreflectivity Standards* (MN 2020-09). St. Paul, MN: Minnesota Department of Transportation.
- Podolsky, J., Buss, A., Williams, R., & Cochran, E. 2016. Comparative Performance of Bioderived/Chemical Additives in Warm Mix Asphalt at Low Temperature. *Mater. Struct., 49*(1–2), 563–575.
- Podolsky, J., Buss, A., Williams, R., & Cochran, E. (2016b). The Rutting and Stripping Resistance of Warm and Hot Mix Asphalt Using Bio-additives. *Constr. Build. Mater., 112,.* 128–139.
- Prapaitrakul, N., Freeman, T., & Glover, C. (2005). Analyze Existing Fog Seal Asphalts and Additives: Literature Review. Texas Transportation Institute Report 0-5091-1, College Station, Texas.
- Qu, X., Liu, Q., Wang, C., Wang, D., & Oeser, M. (2018). Effect of Co-production of Renewable Biomaterials on the Performance of Asphalt Binder in Macro and Micro Perspectives. *Materials* (*Basel*), 11(2), 244.

- Qureshi, N., Tran, N., Watson, D., & Jamil, S. (2013). Effects of Rejuvenator Seal and Fog Seal on Performance of Open-graded Friction Course Pavement. *Maejo Int. J. Sci. Technol, 7*(02), 189– 202.
- Shen, J., & Ohne, Y. (2002). Determining Rejuvenator Content for Recycling Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement by SHRP Binder Specifications. *Int. J. Pavement Eng.*, *3*(4), 261–268.
- Silva, H., Oliveira, J., & Jesus, C. (2012). Are Totally Recycled Hot Mix Asphalts a Sustainable Alternative for Road Paving? *Resour. Conserv. Recycl., 60,* 38–48.
- Sun, D., Sun, G., Du, Y., Zhu, X., Lu, T., Pang, Q., ... & Dai, Z. (2017). Evaluation of Optimized Bio-asphalt Containing High Content Waste cooking Oil Residues. *Fuel, 202,* 529–540.
- Takamura, K. (2005). Method of Rejuvenating Road Surfaces with Polymer Modified Asphalt Emulsions. Retrieved from: https://patents.google.com/patent/US7357594B2/en
- Uzarowski, L., Farrington, G., & Chung, W. (2009). Pavement Preservation Effective Way of Dealing with Scarce Maintenance Budget. Paper presented at the *Annual Conference of the Transportation Association of Canada, 2009, Vancouver, British Columbia.*
- Wang, D., Falchetto, A., Riccardi, C., & Wistuba, M. (2019). Investigation on the Effect of Physical Hardening and Aging Condition on Low-temperature Properties of Asphalt Binder Based on BBR. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-00476-7_18 Springer International Publishing.
- Wood, T., Janisch, D., & Gaillard, F. (2006). Minnesota Seal Coat Handbook 2006. St. Paul, MN: MnDOT.
- Zeng, M., Li, J., Zhu, W., & Xia, Y. (2018). Laboratory Evaluation on Residue in Castor Oil Production as Rejuvenator for Aged Paving Asphalt Binder. *Constr. Build. Mater.*, *193*, 276–285.
- Zhang, R., You, Z., Wang, H., Ye, M., Yap, Y., & Si, C. (2019). The Impact of Bio-oil as Rejuvenator for Aged Asphalt Binder. *Constr. Build. Mater., 196,* 134–143.
- Zhang, X., Wang, H., Hasan, M., Gao, J., & Irfan, M. (2019). Traffic Open Time Prediction of Fog Seal with Sand Using Image Processing Technology. *Constr. Build. Mater., 209*, 9–19.